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In September 2022, President Biden declared “the pandemic is over.”! Yet, several agencies
across the federal government continue to follow policies or otherwise allow large numbers of
employees to work remotely.? In this regard, the Government Accountability Office (GAO)
found the Department of Education (ED) was using only about 16 percent of its headquarters’
space on average.® One of the primary reasons for the low utilization was the agencies’ in-office
workforce had not returned to pre-pandemic levels.*

Even the White House understands that low in-person attendance at federal agencies is a
problem. On January 19, 2024, the White House Chief of Staff, Jeff Zients, transmitted an email
to agency and department heads asking about their progress on return-to-office policies.® In the
email, he asked agencies to submit their return-to-office action plans to the Office of
Management and Budget (OMB) by January 26.°

The Federal Employee Viewpoint Survey for 2022 confirms White House concerns. The survey
found 81 percent of ED’s respondents who live within commuting distance have a telework

! Kate Sullivan, Jamie Gumbrecht, Allie Malloy, & Kevin Liptak, Biden: ‘The Pandemic is Over’, CNN (Sept. 18,

2022), https://www.cnn.com/2022/09/18/politics/biden-pandemic-60-minutes/index.html.

2 Tan Smith, Most Federal Employees Are Still Teleworking, FEDSMITH.COM (Nov. 8, 2023, 9:35 AM),
https://www.fedsmith.com/2023/11/08/most-federal-employees-are-still-

teleworking/#:~:text=0ne%200f%20the%20things%?20that,is%20even%20higher%20(68%25).

3 U.S. GOV’T ACCOUNTABILITY OFF., GAO-24-107006, FEDERAL REAL PROPERTY: AGENCIES NEED NEW
BENCHMARKS TO MEASURE AND SHED UNDERUTILIZED SPACE at 8, 19-20 (2023) (hereinafter “GAO UNDERUTILIZED
SPACE”), https://www.gao.gov/assets/d24107006.pdf.
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agreement,’ 67 percent telework every day, and 23 percent telework three or four times a week.®
This is unacceptable.

Further, prior to the most recent White House concerns, in April 2023, OMB directed agencies
“to substantially increase” in-person work at headquarters’ offices.® Thereafter, in an email to the
Cabinet on August 4, 2023, Mr. Zients noted that returning to the office was “critical to the well-
being of our teams and will enable us to deliver better results for the American people.”*?

As the GAO data clearly demonstrate, the repeated calls of the White House and OMB for a
return to in-person work have largely gone unheeded. While return to in-person work was
advocated as “a priority of the President,”*! the lack of any significant progress in this area
demonstrates that the White House is unable to exercise the most basic management functions
over federal agencies. In turn, this appears to be evidence of the failure of Cabinet officials to
hold agency employees accountable.

As the Committee with jurisdiction over the “general management of the Department of
Education,”*? it is important for me and Committee members to understand the contents of any
post-pandemic return-to-office action plan submitted by ED to the White House or OMB and any
other such action plan, regardless of whether submitted to the White House or OMB. GAQO’s
finding in 2023 that ED was using only about 16 percent of its headquarters’ space appears to
indicate major inefficiencies and poor stewardship of taxpayer-funded real property.*3

Accordingly, the Committee requests copies of all ED post-pandemic return-to-office action
plans submitted to the White House or OMB, as well as all return-to-office post-pandemic action
plans, regardless of whether they were submitted to the White House or OMB. Please provide
the plans, as well as responses to the below requests (instructions attached), no later than March
19, 2024:

1. An Excel spreadsheet with the daily entry and exit data (e.g., raw numbers only) for the
Lyndon Baines Johnson Building (LBJ), 400 Maryland Avenue, S.W., Washington, D.C.
20202 from January 21, 2021, through January 31, 2024;

2. An Excel spreadsheet with the daily entry and exit data (e.g., raw numbers only) for LBJ
for calendar year 2019.

72022 OFFICE OF PERSONNEL MANAGEMENT FEDERAL EMPLOYEE VIEWPOINT SURVEY: REPORT BY AGENCY at 231,
https://www.opm.gov/fevs/reports/data-reports/data-reports/report-by-agency/2022/2022-agency-report.pdf. The
2022 survey appears to be latest agency-specific survey available.
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04-13/.
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3. Materials sufficient to show the current utilization of space within LBJ;

4. The number of employees who currently report to work at LBJ as an in-person duty
location;

5. The White House has directed agencies to have a system for monitoring the progress of
returning to the office “fully in place.”'* If ED has implemented a “system,” provide all
records maintained for monitoring the progress of the return-to-office of ED employees
and contractors. If ED does not have this system or it is not “fully in place,” provide an
explanation of why ED has failed to monitor its progress;

6. An explanation of whether and how ED has ensured all employees are paid in accordance
with the locality in which they reside and from which they work, instead of where their
duty station is; and

7. All documents and communications between ED and the American Federation of
Government Employees related to the development and implementation of all ED post-
pandemic return-to-office action plans.

Thank you for your prompt attention to this request. Should the Department have any questions,
please feel free to reach out to Gabriella Pistone at Gabriella.Pistone@Mail.House.Gov or 202-
225-6558.

Sincerely,

Virginia Foxx
Chairwoman

U. S. House Committee on
Education and the Workforce

Attachment

14 Hans Nichols, supra note 5.
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